IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE

OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 74,406

FILED SID J. WHITE AUG 10 1989 C

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

RABEN PASTAL, a Joint Venture, comprised of RABEN BUILDERS, INC. and PASTAL CONSTRUCTION COMPANY,

Petitioners,

v.

CITY OF COCONUT CREEK, a Florida Municipal Corporation and JAMES COWLEY,

Respondents.

ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT **OF** APPEAL

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

GREENBERG, TRAURIG, HOFFMAN LIPCFF, ROSEN & QUENTEL, P.A.
Byron G. Petersen, Esq. and
Marlene K. Silverman, Esq.
500 East Broward Boulevard
Suite 1350
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33394
-andDANIELS & HICKS, P.A.
Sam Daniels, Esq.
New World Tower, Suite 2400

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case is before the Court on certification by the Fourth District Court of Appeal of the following question of great public importance:

May a municipality be held liable to an owner-developer of a building project under 42 U.S.C. Section 1983 for the wrongful refusal of the municipality's chief building official to withdraw a stop-work order on the project? 14 F.L.W. 1418 (June 14, 1989).

The facts from which this question arises have never been disputed on appeal. The Chief Building Official of the City of Coconut Creek, James Cowley, refused to lift stop-work orders on two permitted mid-rise buildings being constructed by Raben-Pastal in a large multiphase condominium development. Cowley, who was not a licensed engineer or architect, wrongfully and willfully refused to lift the stop-work orders despite the fact that reputable professional engineers, specifically retained by him to inspect the buildings and supervise modifications, had certified to him that the buildings had been put into full compliance with the Building Code. This unjustified refusal was so reprehensible that the jury below found that he violated Petitioners' constitutional rights. 1/2 The substantial damages suf-

If the verdict was predicated on 42 U.S.C. Section 1983 which provides: "Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or usage of any State or Territory or District Court of Columbia, subjects, or causes to be subjected, any citizen of the United States or other person within the jurisdiction thereof to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution and laws, shall be liable to the party injured in an action at law, suit in equity, or other proper proceeding for redress....

fered by Petitioners were not the product of mere inadvertence by the Official. On the contrary, in a special interrogatory verdict the jury concluded:

[The Chief Building Official] intentionally violated and/or misapplied the provisions of the South Florida Building Code or acted arbitrarily, capriciously and unreasonably. (R.1591, 1894).

He knew or should have known that his conduct violated clearly established rights. (R.1591, 1894).

On instructions directing the jury to determine whether Cowley was the final authority for the City as to the lifting of stopwork orders (R.1872), $\frac{2}{}$ the jury found that he was the final authority and that his actions accordingly represented "an official policy, custom, or practice of the City" (R.1591, 1894). Under these findings, the jury returned its verdict of 2.5 Million Dollars against the City as well as the Chief Building Official. (R.1591, 1894).

Six months after the jury was discharged, the trial court entered a Judgment N.O.V. in favor of both Cowley and the City on the ground that recovery was precluded by the United States Supreme Court opinion in <u>Parratt v. Taylor</u>, 451 U.S. 527 (1981) (The availability of state damages remedies which will adequately redress losses arising from random unauthorized acts

^{2/ &}quot;R" refers to the record on appeal, which includes portions of the trial transcript. "T" refers to portions of the trial transcript designated as part of the record on appeal. Plaintiffs' or Defendants' "Ex" refers to the Trial Exhibits. Unless otherwise indicated, all emphasis is supplied.

precludes procedural due process claims under 42 U.S.C. Section 1983). The trial court also reduced the jury's verdict by setting off against it a \$1,051,000.00 settlement that Raben-Pastal made with certain project professionals.

Petitioners then appealed to the Fourth District. The City did not cross-appeal or in any other manner question the instructions given to the jury or the jury's findings in connection with the issue of municipal liability. The issue of whether Cowley was the final authority for the City of Coconut Creek was simply never pressed during post-trial proceedings or raised on appeal.

In the Fourth District the sole liability issue was whether the trial court was correct in having applied the preclusive doctrine of Parratt v. Taylor. However, instead of deciding the Parratt issue, the Fourth District raised a separate issue regarding Cowley's final authority and concluded (after requiring supplemental briefs while the case was under submission) that a municipality cannot under any circumstances be liable for the unconstitutional actions of its Chief Building Official, basing its determination on a decision of the United States Supreme Court promulgated five months after oral argument, City of St. Louis v. Praprotnik, 485 U.S. 112, 99 L. Ed. 2d 107 After so holding, the Fourth District certified the (1988).issue to this Court.

Jurisdiction having been conferred by the question certified, Raben-Pastal seeks review of the opinion of the Fourth District on the issue of municipal liability under Praprotnik,

preclusion under <u>Parratt</u> and the set-off entered by the trial court. Viewed in the required light, and never disputed on appeal, the record shows the following:

Imposition of the Stop-Work Orders: Building permits for construction of Raben-Pastal's two buildings in a phased development in Coconut Creek were duly issued by the City in early 1981 (R.68-70, P. Ex. 90,91). During construction, small hairline cracks were observed in limited areas of certain unfinished slabs of one of the buildings. Consultations were immediately held by Petitioner with the record architect, record engineer, and record special inspector, and a remedial plan for these deficiencies was developed, filed with the building department, and implemented. (R.111-116). Modifications were also made to the design of the second building so such problems would not be encountered there as well. (R.116-118).

These repairs and change in design, though helpful, did not completely solve the problem. The City of Coconut Creek then retained D.E. Britt and Associates, Inc. ("Britt"), professional engineers, to serve as a special consultant and inspector for the project on the City's behalf. (R.134-137) Around May 5, 1981, Raben-Pastal voluntarily stopped any further structural construction. (R.146) Two weeks later, Britt released a report questioning the load bearing capacity of the unfinished unoccupied buildings. (R.150-153)

On May 27, 1981, a meeting was held between the project engineers, the City's Chief Building Official, Respondent James

Cowley, and Britt to agree upon a repair methodology that, when implemented, would allow construction to proceed. (R.184-186). The next day, Cowley imposed official stop-work orders on both buildings pending implementation of the agreed repairs. On June 4, 1981, Britt, the City's own 19). inspector/engineer, approved repair plans conforming to agreed repair methodology. (R.499, Plaintiffs' Ex. 13). The repairs were made between June 4 and June 30, 1981. Britt continuously inspected the repair work while it was in progress (Luten Jan. 7 T. 18), and on July 2, 1981 the senior project engineer in Britt's office, Hank Luten, officially certified to Cowley and the City that the repairs were complete and had been done in compliance with the agreed upon procedures. (R.877, Plaintiffs' Ex. 16).

Cowley's Unjustified Refusal to Lift the Stop-Work Orders: On July 3, 1981, Raben-Pastal formally requested that the City lift the stop-work orders in light of Britt's certification. (R.220-223). Cowley refused. (R.224-225). This refusal persisted for 143 days on one building and 186 days on the other, halting all phases of the entire project. As a result of Cowley's refusal, sensational newspaper coverage suggested that the unoccupied, unfinished buildings were unsafe or did not comply with the building code. (R.272-73, 494-95; Plaintiffs' Ex. 119-

His purported basis for not lifting the stop-work orders was Section 201.3 of the South Florida Building Code which provides that before stop-work orders will be withdrawn, arrangements have to be made which comply with the Code and are satisfactory to the building official.

126). Several of these articles reported public comments by Cowley questioning the structural safety of the buildings, despite the fact that Cowley was not an engineer and admittedly had no expertise in such matters. (Cowley Jan. 9 T.6-7). Prospective purchasers of units at the buildings withdrew their reservation deposits, rescinded their contracts, and stopped visiting the project and sales office. (R.279-285,495).

The delays in lifting the stop-work orders and the attendant adverse publicity were caused by Cowley's aberrant conduct in handling the matter. Cowley arbitrarily imposed approximately fifteen illogical conditions before construction could proceed (R.228-38, Plaintiffs' Exs. 40, 43, 57, 72 and 73, Defendants' Ex. 28). These "conditions" included the following unprecedented requirements: (1) that Raben-Pastal and its President personally execute a written indemnity agreement in favor of the City and any future purchasers of building units before the stop-work orders would be lifted; (2) that a new special inspector (licensed professional engineer) had to be selected and was required to certify the soundness of work that had already been inspected and certified as well as future work; (3) that the new inspector would not be provided from the City's own staff and had to be someone with no prior knowledge of the project (therefore five professional engineers, including the engineers the City had previously selected and used, were unacceptable); and (4) that the new inspector could not use any

reports of the over 50 prior inspections done by the licensed engineers during the actual construction. $\frac{4}{}$

The supposed basis for Cowley's "conditions" was his speculation that because some problems had been found (albeit corrected) others might exist. (Plaintiffs' Ex. 72, R.262) conjecture flew directly in the face of observable facts: inspection reports (Plaintiffs' Ex. 22); photographs taken during construction uniformly showing that all work was in compliance with plan (Plaintiffs' Ex. 14), and; random exposure of covered work again uniformly showing that cable and steel placement was done according to plan (Plaintiffs' Ex. 16, Luten Jan. 7 T. Furthermore, certifications by independent testing laboratories utilizing state of the art test procedures, including extensive x-rays of the buildings, were arbitrarily rejected (Plaintiffs' Exs. 58-60, 111) and load tests were required even though the City's consultant was of the opinion that they were not necessary (Luten Jan. 7 T. 35) and the City itself had earlier said that such tests would not be required. (Plaintiffs' In essence, Cowley placed upon Raben-Pastal the vir-Ex. 39). tually impossible burden of disproving his arbitrary speculation concerning the buildings even though no observable conditions

In addition, after the City's own consultant certified on July 2, 1981 that the agreed upon remedial work had been properly done, Cowley added a new requirement that Raben-Pastal guarantee the future "serviceability" of the building. (Defendants' Ex. 28). However, that term is not defined in the South Florida Building Code and as used by the City's own consultant did not relate to structural or other safety concerns. (Plaintiffs' Ex. 29, Luten Jan. 7 T.21).

supported his guesses and no professional engineer--not even the City's own specially retained outside consultants--concurred.

The City Commission and City Manager Acknowledge and Defer to Cowley's Final Authority: During the time construction was halted due to Cowley's refusal to lift the stop-work orders, Raben-Pastal repeatedly sought relief from the City Manager and City Council. At each juncture, Raben-Pastal was informed that, as provided in the Building Code, Cowley and Cowley alone had final authority over construction within the municipal confines of Coconut Creek (P. Ex. 71; Stewart Jan 9. T. 92; P. Ex. 65, P. Ex. 64, Cochenour Jan. 8 T. 8, Cowley Jan. 13 T. 181-184). As Cowley himself unequivocally stated:

- Q. Mr. Cowley, was there anyone other than yourself in the City of Coconut Creek that established policy and procedure with respect to the administration and enforcement of the South Florida Building Code?
- A. No.

(Cowley Jan. 13 T. 184).

The Board of Rules and Appeals Acknowledges and Defers to Cowley's Final Authority: Raben-Pastal also formally requested the Broward County Board of Rules and Appeals to review Cowley's refusal to lift the stop-work orders. Twice the Board rebuffed those requests finding, as vigorously urged by the City Attorney for Coconut Creek, that it lacked any authority whatsoever to interfere with the unlimited discretion imposed in the Chief Building Official by the South Florida Building Code:

Bd. Attorney Robert Ziegler: "under the South Florida Building Code the final decision is the Building Official's". (D. Ex. 1, Tr. p. 93)

Motion of the Board: Whereas the ultimate responsibility of the job belongs to the building official and the city, • • I move the Board support the action of the building official. (July 30, 1981 B.R.A. Tr. p. 120 Defendant's Joint Ex. 1)

City Attorney Paul Stewart: "it's within the Building Department and building official's prerogative and his discretion to determine and make the determinations that we're here about today." (City Attorney, Paul Stewart to Board, Nov. 1982 B.R.A. Def. Joint Ex. 1)

The Circuit Court Acknowledges and Defers to Cowley's Final Authority (Mandamus Proceeding): In its efforts to leave no possible avenue for prompt redress unexplored, Raben-Pastal also sought mandamus in the Circuit Court of Broward County. This avenue was again blocked by the City's assertion that the South Florida Building Code vested broad discretion in the Chief Building Official and that his determination was final and unreviewable by the judiciary. The Court in that proceeding agreed, holding that what conditions would be imposed was strictly up to the Building Official. (Nov. 12 B.R.A. Def. Joint Ex. 1, p.6)

The Stop-Work Orders are Eventually Lifted: The Chief Building Official finally lifted the stop-work orders on November 2, 1981 and December 15, 1981. What finally brought Cowley to his senses appears to have been Raben-Pastal's announcement that it was seriously considering demolition of the buildings in light of the extensive delays and Cowley's intractable position (Plaintiffs' Exs. 121-22).

Subsequent Lawsuit and Settlement With Some Defendants: After the stop-work orders were lifted, Raben-Pastal filed suit for the damages it had incurred. This action named as defendants the project architect, project engineer, project special inspector, the Chief Building Official (Cowley), the City, the municipality's engineering consultants (Britt), and the City's Councilmen. The causes of action against the project professionals were for design negligence. The separate cause of action against Cowley, the Councilmen, and the City was predicated on intentional deprivation of vested and constitutionally protected property interests pursuant to 42 U.S.C. Section 1983.

The individual City Councilmen were dismissed as defendants well prior to trial on the basis that under the South Florida Building Code they had no say-so over Cowley's decision not to lift the stop-work orders. As argued by the Councilmen in their motion to dismiss:

Plaintiff urges the "obligation" of said Defendant Councilmen under the South Florida Building Code to review the actions and activity of the City's Building Official, Defendant JAMES COWLEY. The provisions of the South Florida Building Code . . . does [sic] not establish any duty or obligation on behalf of the Defendant City Councilmen to actions its review the of Officials. (Councilmen Motion to Dismiss R.741).

After several unsuccessful attempts by Raben-Pastal to plead around this impediment (R.935), the matter of councilmen liability was appealed. The Fourth District affirmed the dismissal. Raben-Pastal v. City of Coconut Creek, 490 So.2d 975 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986).

The case then proceeded toward trial against two groups of defendants - the project professionals, whose negligence caused the need for repairs prior to July 2, 1981, and the City and Cowley, who were responsible for the post July 2, 1981 damages. Petitioners settled with the project professionals prior to opening statement and the trial continued solely against Cowley and the City.

а

a

а

After trial, the lower court held that Cowley and the City were entitled to a set-off against the Section 1983 verdict in the full amount of the earlier settlement. This \$1,051,000.00 set-off was made despite a specific instruction to the jury that they were to exclude damages occurring prior to July 2, 1981 and instead to award against Cowley and the City only "damages which occurred as a result of the wrongful acts, if any, of the Defendants after July 2, 1981." (R.1884-85). A similar instruction was given advising the jury that it was their duty to segment responsibility between the pre July 2 adverse publicity (the fault of the project professionals) and the post July 2 adverse publicity (the fault of Cowley) which critically impaired Raben-Pastal's sales efforts. (R.531). This set-off and the Judgment N.O.V. described earlier were affirmed by the Fourth District which certified the cause to this Court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue of whether the Chief Building Official was the final authority for the City was decided against the City in the trial court and never again raised by the City on appeal. The Fourth District erred by raising for the first time, on its own motion, the new issue five months after the oral argument before it and three years after the jury's decision on the issue.

Having raised it, the Fourth District then proceeded to improperly apply City of St. Louis v. Praprotnik on this issue to the record before it. Praprotnik is a refinement of several cases preceding it which deal with the issue of the degree of authority a municipal official or employee must have before it can be said that the official's actions fairly represent the acts of the municipal corporation in question. Here there can be no question that Coconut Creek's Chief Building Official was not a subordinate but the highest official with final authority in the City as to the lifting of stop-work orders. During the events in question and during trial, each member of the City Council, the City Manager and the City Attorney, repeatedly speaking with precise clarity, pointed to Cowley when asked which official in the City had final authority to set policy in connection with stop work decisions. Cowley did not just implement identifiable policy; he made it.

а

a

A review of the applicable provisions of the South Florida Building Code confirms Cowley's final policymaking authority. Under the Code, before a stop-work order can be lifted "arrangements in compliance with the Code and satisfactory

to the building official have to be made." There are absolutely no standards or guidelines in the Code by which the Chief Building Official's "satisfaction" can be measured. Nor does the existence of the Board of Rules and Appeals detract from the conclusion that Cowley had final policymaking authority. The South Florida Building Code limits that Board's review powers to those "matters which are regulated by the Code." The Building Official's "satisfaction" is simply not regulated. Moreover, either because it was aware of this constraint on its review powers or through a longstanding tradition of abstention - a tradition having the force and effect of law - the members of that Board do not purport to review a municipal building officials "satisfaction."

a

а

а

A review of the jury's instructions and the jury's verdict below also confirms the finality of Cowley's actions. In a procedure agreed to by all counsel, the jury was instructed to determine the exact finality question dealt with in Praprotnik. It did so in favor of plaintiff. It was error for the Fourth District to thereafter substitute its judgment for that of the jury on this point. It was doubly error to do so when the City never sought appellate review of the instructions or the jury's finding.

Since <u>Praprotnik</u> does not bar Raben-Pastal claims, the issue not decided by the Fourth District - the applicability of the preclusive doctrine of <u>Parratt v. Taylor</u>, expressly relied upon by the trial judge in granting Judgment N.O.V. - is squarely before this Court. <u>Parratt v. Taylor</u> holds that a Section 1983

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