IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.	74,406	
		Constants
RABEN PASTAL, a Joint Venture, comprised of RABEN BUILDERS, INC. and PASTAL CONSTRUCTION COMPANY,		SIP 18 1909 CLEAR, SHO THE COURT By Deputy clerk
Petitioners,		
vs.		
CITY OF COCONUT CREEK, a Florida Municipal Corporation, : and JAMES COWLEY,	:	
Respondents.		

.

ON CERTIFICATION FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

ROBERT H. SCHWARTZ GUNTHER & WHITAKER, P.A. Attorneys for Respondents Post Office Box 14608 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33302 (305) 523-5885 FLA. BAR NO. 301167

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

Therefore, the threshold determination as to whether the certified question truly presents one of "great public importance," is necessary to a determination as to whether or not this Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction.

The Petitioners have not suggested why the question presented is one of "great public importance." The Respondents would submit that the certified question as propounded is fact

specific and is not related to an alleged pattern of conduct or established procedure which is likely to recur. Joint Ventures v. Department of Transportation, 519 So.2d 1069 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). Rather, the issue presented herein relates to a reaction to what was viewed by the officials of the City of Coconut Creek, by the media and by a substantial number of the members of the public at large as a crisis situation rather than an issue of recurring significance. The historical perspective of the stop work order should be considered in evaluating the potential public importance of the issue presented. Notice of the defects in the development in question followed closely in time to the Cocoa Beach Condominium collapse on March 21, 1981 which had resulted in heavy loss of life and which caused much of the concern for the safety of the Raben-Pastal project. <u>Alles v. Department of Professional Regulation</u>, 423 So.2d 624 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982).

The maintenance of the stop work order until satisfactory assurances of safety were provided should be considered in this historical context which militates against the likelihood that the situation will reoccur.

Further, as will be discussed in Section 11. of this brief relating to the certified question, the Fourth District Court of Appeal property followed the decision of the United States Supreme Court of <u>City of St. Louis v. Praprotnik</u>, 485 U.S. 112, 108 S.Ct. 915, 99 L.Ed.2d 107 (1988), as it relates to the issue of municipal liability. As <u>Praprotnik</u> does not represent new law, but rather the refinement by the Supreme Court of a decade of

development of the law of municipal liability, there is no for this Court to review the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

THE CERTIFIED OUESTION

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WAS CORRECT IN DETERMINING THAT THE CHIEF BUILDING OFFICIAL WAS NOT THE FINAL POLICY-MAKER IN THE CITY OF COCONUT CREEK CONCERNING THE LIFTING OF STOP WORK ORDERS.

A municipality may be held liable under 51983 only when the municipality itself causes the constitutional deprivation. Monell v. Department of Social Services of the City of New York, 436 U.S. 658, 98 S.Ct. 2018, 56 L.Ed.2d 611 (1978). This causal nexus stems from the "subject to or causes to be subjected language of 42 U.S.C. §1983." Consequently, the first inquiry in any case alleging municipal liability pursuant to §1983 is whether there is a <u>direct causal link between a municipal policy or custom and the</u> <u>alleged constitutional deprivation</u>. <u>City of Canton, Ohio v.</u> <u>Harris</u>, 489 U.S. ____, 109 S.Ct. 1197, 103 L.Ed.2d 412 (1989). (emphasis added).

The Supreme Court has consistently rejected <u>respondeat superior</u> as a basis for municipal liability, <u>Id</u>. at 1203, "[o]nly when the execution of the government's policy or custom inflicts that injury that the municipality may be held liable under §1983."

Additionally, "it is only when a constitutional tort is caused via a policy, statement, ordinance, regulation or decision officially adopted and promulgated by that body's

offices," Monell, at 2021, that the governmental entity may be held liable.

In rejecting respondent superior as a basis for municipal liability, the <u>Monell</u> Court explicitly concluded that municipalities can be held liable only if a government's law makers or those who represent the official policy effectuate an unconstitutional policy.

An essential point of concern was when could an official be deemed to be responsible for said policy in a specified area of government business. The Supreme Court emphasizedthat not every decision by a municipal officer will subject the municipality to §1983 liability. Pembaur v. City of Cincinnati, 475 u.S. 469, 106 S.Ct. 1292, 89 L.Ed.2d 452 (1986).

The <u>Pembaur</u> Court made it clear that liability will attach only when the official possesses <u>final</u> <u>authority</u> <u>to</u> <u>establish</u> <u>municipal</u> policy with <u>respect</u> <u>to</u> <u>the</u> <u>alleged</u> <u>constitutional violation</u>. <u>Id</u>. at 1299, 1300. (emphasis added). Furthermore, even ^{if} the official has discretion in the performance of his specified duties, this does not necessarily give rise to §1983 liability. <u>Id</u>. In Pembaur, the Court formulated the legal standard for determining when an official has final official policy-making authority.

The four guiding principles are:

(1) municipalities may be held responsible only for the acts for which the municipality itself is responsible;

(2) only municipal officials with 'final policy-making authority' may by their actions subject the municipality to §1983
liability;

(3) <u>state <u>law</u> <u>determines</u> whether a particular official has final policy-making authority; and</u>

(4) the action must have been taken pursuant to a policy adopted by the official or officials responsible under state law for making policy in <u>that area of the city's business</u>. (emphasis in original). <u>Id</u>. at 1300.

As the applicability of these legal standards to subsequent cases led to diverging interpretations by the circuit courts of appeals, the Supreme Court revisited the issue in <u>City</u> <u>of St. Louis v. Praprotnik</u>, 485 U.S. 112, 108 s.ct. 915, 99 **L.Ed.2d** 107 (1988). In <u>Praprotnik</u>, the court solidified the methodology for ascertaining when an official act represents final authority. <u>Praprotnik</u>, as will be shown, is analogous to the case at bar and was properly applied by the Fourth District Court of Appeal to the fact situation presented by the record herein.

The Court in <u>Praprotnik</u> found that the determination of final policy-making authority is a question of state law. As there is no contention that the South Florida Building **Code is** unconstitutional, its provisions must supply the solution to the question of final authority.

James Praprotnik was an architect employed by the City of St. Louis in a management-level position who, after appealing a temporary suspension to the city's civil service

commission board, was transferred to a clerical position in another city agency and subsequently laid off. **Id**. at 919. Praprotnik claimed, relying on §1983, that the city had violated his First Amendment rights by the lay-off. He prevailed at the trial court level and the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeal affirmed, holding that the jury had implicitly determined that Praprotnik's lay-off was brought about by an unconstitutional city policy. The court of appeals defined a policy-maker as one whose employment decisions are final and not subject to de novo review by higher ranking officials. Furthermore, the court of appeals found that liability could attach to the municipality for decisions made by the personnel of the city.

The Supreme Court reversed, specifically setting forth the appropriate legal standard for determining when final decision-making authority is effectuated. In <u>Praprotnik</u>, the city charter expressly authorized the civil service commission to review employment policy as well as to review decisions of high-level employees. Praprotnik's contention that the civil service commission's review of individual employment actions gave "too much deference to the decisions of appointing authorities" was rejected.

The <u>Praprotnik</u> court made it clear that

simply going along with discretionary decisions made by one subordinate . . . is not a delegation to them of the authority to make policy. <u>Id</u>. at 927.

In essence, the presumption by the board that a subordinate was properly applying policy is not tantamount to a finding that the official was acting with final authority. <u>Id</u>.

The <u>Praprotnik</u> analysis is applicable to the case at bar. The South Florida Building Code specifically sets guidelines and policies for regulating construction. South Florida Building Code, §§201-205. (Chapter 71-575, Laws of Florida).³

 $^{\mbox{3}}$ The relevant sections of the South Florida Building Code are as follows:

201.1(A) BUILDING OFFICIAL

(2) POWERS OF BUILDING OFFICIAL: The building official shall be subject to the powers vested in the Board of Rules and Appeals, as set forth in **5203** of this Code. Building officials shall delegate powers, duties and assignments to certified chief inspectors to interpret the provisions of the Code in categories in which the building official is not certified.

(4) STOP WORK ORDERS: Whenever any building work is being done contrary to the provisions of this Code or is being done in an unsafe or dangerous manner, the building official or his duly authorized representative may order such work stopped, or may order the person or persons engaged in the doing or causing of such work to be done and such persons shall immediately stop work until arrangements, in compliance with the provisions of this Code and satisfactory to the building official or his duly authorized representative have been made, at which time he may authorize the work to proceed.

203 BOARD OF RULES AND APPEALS

In order to determine the suitability of alternate materials and types of construction, to provide for reasonable interpretation of the provisions of this Code and to assist in (continued..)

³(...continued)

and structures, there is hereby created a Board of Rules and Appeals, appointed by the appointing authority, consisting of twenty one members who are qualified by training and experience to pass on matters pertaining to building construction.

203.4 DUTIES:

(a) APPEAL FROM DECISION OF BUILDING OFFICIAL: The Board shall hear all appeals from the decisions of the building official wherein such decision is on matters regulated by this Code from any person, aggrieved thereby, and specifically as set forth in §204. "Alternate materials and types of constructions." Application for appeals shall be in writing and addressed to the Secretary of the Board.

(b) INTERPRET CODE AT REQUEST OF BUILDING OFFICIAL: The Board shall pass on all matters pertaining to this Code and referred to the Board by the building official for interpretation or clarification.

(g) Notwithstanding, and in addition to, the jurisdiction of the Board of Rules and Appeals created by Chapter **71-575**, Laws of Florida, Building Code as applicable to Broward County may be enforced by injunctive proceedings, or other appropriate legal proceedings, in the appropriate court having jurisdiction thereof, upon petition or complaint filed by the Board of Rules and Appeals, which is hereby granted the power to sue and be sued, or by any aggrieved person, any interested citizen, citizens association, corporation or other business entity if any elected or appointed officials named in §3 of Chapter **71-575** or any building official fails or refuses to comply with said Code.

203.5 POWERS

(a) (1) The Board of Rules and Appeals may interpret the provisions of the Code to cover (continued...)

From this it is clear that the building official, James Cowley, was not vested with final policy-making authority. Petitioners had the opportunity to appeal to the Board of Review and Appeals, as provided by the Building Code, which regulated the projects in question.

The fact that the Board seemingly went along with the decision of the building official is irrelevant under the <u>Praprotnik</u> analysis. Mere acquiescence in the decision of the building official does not confer final decision-making authority on Cowley, necessary for the imposition of municipal liability.

(b) The Board shall have the power to affirm, modify or reverse the decision of the Building Official wherein such decision is on matters regulated by the Code.

203.7 COURT REVIEW:

(a) Any party aggrieved by a decision of the Board of Rules and Appeals, whether or not a previous party to the decision, may apply to the appropriate court for a writ of certiorari to correct errors of law of such decision.

(b) Application for review shall be made to the proper court of jurisdiction within five days after the decision of the Board.

³(....continued)

⁽a) (1) The Board of Rules and Appeals may interpret the provisions of the Code to cover a special case if it appears that the provisions of the Code do not definitely cover the point raised, or that the intent of the Code is not clear, or that ambiguity exists in the wording; but it shall have no authority to grant variances where the Code is clear and specific.

Furthermore, Petitioners were afforded "double protection" as the South Florida Building Code specifically authorizes any person aggrieved by a decision by the Board of Rules and Appeals to apply to the appropriate court for a writ of certiorari. Therefore, even if as Petitioners claim, the Board of Rules and Appeals deferred to the judgment of Cowley, Petitioners still had other avenues to pursue for remedial action before a final decision was made.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal correctly held "the [Building Code] not only provides guidance, it also provides for <u>review</u> Of <u>the building official's decision</u> thus specifically denying <u>final policy-making</u> authority' over construction **projects."** 545 So.2d at 889. (emphasis added).

It has been the policy of the Supreme Court to limit municipal liability under §1983. This is especially true in instances whereby a municipal employee utilizes his discretionary power to carry out a constitutional policy in an allegedly unconstitutional manner. To impose liability on the City of Coconut Creek in the present case would be tantamount to finding it liable on a theory of <u>respondeat superior</u>. This would be in direct conflict to the teachings of <u>Monell, Pembaur</u> and <u>Praprotnik</u>.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal properly recognized this and properly applied <u>Praprotnik</u> to this case. This correct decision should not be disturbed.

III.

ANCILLARY ISSUES

Respondents recognize that while this Court has the authority to entertain issues ancillary to the certified question which may extend to "any error in the record," this is not mandatory. <u>Tushin v. State</u>, 425 So.2d 1126, 1130 (Fla. 1982); <u>Bell</u> <u>v. State</u>, 394 So.2d 979 (Fla. 1981); <u>Lawrence v. Florida East Coast</u> <u>Railway Co.</u>, 346 So.2d 1012 (Fla. 1977); <u>see also Confederation of</u> <u>Canada Life Insurance Co. v. Vega Y. Arminan</u>, 144 So.2d 805, 807 (Fla. 1962); <u>Zerin v. Charles Pfizer & Co.</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 594.

The Petitioners have requested that this Court address issues involving procedural due process, substantive due process and the issue of set-off in addition to considering the certified question. The Respondents submit that resolution of these issues will not affect the outcome of the case and should not be addressed as ancillary issues necessary to the proper resolution of the certified question. Despite this assertion, the Respondents will address the ancillary issues discussed by the Petitioners.

<u>1.</u>

<u>RIPENESS</u>

The Petitioners advance the argument that their claim should be treated as one sounding in substantive due process pursuant to the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. This argument is advanced despite the fact that the trial court directed a verdict in favor of the Respondents on this claim, and despite the fact that the Order Granting Renewed Motion for Directed Verdict is specifically couched in procedural due process terms.

Regardless of whether the claim is one sounding in procedural due process or substantive due process, both are subject to the ripeness requirement enunciated by the Supreme Court in Williamson County Resional <u>Planning Commission V. Hamilton Bank of</u> Johnson City, 473 U.S. 172, 105 S.Ct. 3108, 87 L.Ed.2d 126 (1985).

The Court in Williamson County followed recent decisions which made it "clear that the application of government regulations effects a taking of a property interest is <u>not ripe</u> until the governmental entity charged with implementing the regulations has reached a <u>final decision</u> regarding the application of the regulations to the property at issue," <u>Id</u>. at 3116.

The Court expressly applied this reason to both procedural and substantive due process claims.

a property owner has not suffered a violation of the Just Compensation Clause until the owner has unsuccessfully attempted to obtain just compensation through the procedures provided by the State for obtaining such compensation

* * *

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